
Public Accounts Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

Tuesday, 17 June 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

09.00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Fay Buckle 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8041 

PublicAccounts.Committee@Wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions (09:00)  

2 Meeting the Financial Challenges Facing Local Government in Wales 

(09:00-10:00) (Pages 1 - 12)  

Research Brief 

  

June Milligan – Director General, Local Government and Communities, Welsh 

Government 

Reg Kilpatrick - Director, Local Government, Welsh Government 

Debra Carter - Deputy Director, Local Government Finance and Performance, Welsh 

Government 

3 Scrutiny in Local Government (10:00-10:15) (Pages 13 - 96)  

PAC(4)-17-14(paper 1) 

PAC(4)-17-14(paper 2) 

  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business: (10:15)   

Items 5 & 6 

5 Ways of Working: Assessment of ways of working (10:15-10:35) (Pages 

97 - 100)  

PAC(4)-17-14(paper 3) 

  

6 Forward work programme: Autumn 2014 (10:35-11:00) (Pages 101 - 

107)  

PAC(4)-17-14(paper 4) 

  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 1

Good Scrutiny? Good Question!
Auditor General for Wales improvement study: 
Scrutiny in Local Government

29 May 2014

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Pack Page 13

Agenda Item 3



2

   

The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines and certifies the 
accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS bodies. He also 
has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which those 
organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General, together with appointed auditors, also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts 
local government value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office, 
which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General. 

For further information please write to the Auditor General at the address above, telephone 029 2032 0500, 
email: info@wao.gov.uk, or see website www.wao.gov.uk.

© Auditor General for Wales 2014

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. You must re-use 
it accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales 
copyright and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright 
material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

I have prepared and published this report in accordance with the  
Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004  

The team who delivered the work comprised Chris Bolton, Tim Buckle,  
Louise Fleet, Non Jenkins, Helen Keatley, Ena Lloyd, Huw Rees, Martin Gibson  

and Katherine Simmons under the direction of Alan Morris.

Huw Vaughan Thomas
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Pack Page 14



3

Contents

 Summary 4

Recommendations 7

 Detailed Report 8

Scrutiny practice is improving, but the impact that scrutiny is having is not  
always clearly evident  8

Whilst a majority of councils consider that there is a supportive environment  
for scrutiny, some lack of clarity of roles and responsibilities can limit the  
effectiveness with which scrutiny holds the executive to account   13

Better planning, more effective chairing and improvements to the range,  
quality and use  of information are required to improve scrutiny across  
councils in Wales 16

In general, council scrutiny is not always fully aligned with other council  
improvement processes, nor builds on external audit, inspection and review 21

More effective engagement with the public and partners will improve scrutiny  
and increase public accountability 23

 Appendices

Appendix 1 - Self-evaluations and peer team evaluations 27

Appendix 2 - Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government  
                     overview and scrutiny 43

Local government scrutiny in Wales is improving but councils need to do more 
to develop consistently rigorous scrutiny to increase public accountability in 
decision-making

Pack Page 15



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!4

1 The importance of effective scrutiny is magnified 
as public services respond to the challenge of 
the global financial situation whilst continuously 
seeking to improve services. Effective scrutiny 
can improve the evidence base for decisions on 
the allocation of resources as well as ensuring 
that decisions are transparent and in accordance 
with the needs of the local community. Scrutiny 
also has an important role to play in contributing 
to developing policy, undertaking specific reviews 
and in monitoring performance. The development 
of effective joint scrutiny arrangements for new 
and emerging collaborations is also likely to be 
a key focus for public services over the next 
few years. Scrutiny functions will also need to 
continue to respond to the changes introduced 
through the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011. These changes include the requirement 
to take into account the views of the public, and 
the ability to form joint overview and scrutiny 
committees with one or more local authorities.

2 Weaknesses in council scrutiny arrangements 
have been identified in numerous reviews and 
audit and inspection reports since scrutiny 
arrangements were introduced into local 
government following the Local Government Act 
2000. For example: the Welsh Government’s 
Review of Local Service Delivery1 in 2006; the 
Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales 
(CSSIW) Chief Inspector’s Annual Report  
2010-112; Estyn’s Annual Report 2009-103; 
and the Welsh Government’s explanatory 
memorandum to the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 20114. 

3 The Auditor General for Wales recognises the 
need for improved scrutiny arrangements and 
the need to focus on issues of transparency and 
openness to challenge. These improvements are 
necessary to ensure that scrutiny plays a fully 
effective role in the good governance of local 
authorities in Wales. For these reasons, in 2012, 
the Auditor General committed to undertake an 
Improvement Study to explore how scrutiny could 
improve in councils in Wales. 

4 Our approach to this study was innovative and 
differed from the traditional audit approach by 
involving facilitation of ‘real-time’ peer review, 
learning and improvement in scrutiny over 
a period of just over a year. The aim of the 
study was to help councils achieve lasting 
improvements in scrutiny. Wales Audit Office staff 
worked with councils to provide an opportunity 
for those involved in scrutiny to identify where 
improvements to their own arrangements may be 
required, and to share knowledge and experience 
with others to find solutions. 

Summary
‘Effective scrutiny is vital in ensuring high quality public services which meet the needs of the 
public and in ensuring public services make best use of their money’ 

Local Government Minister, Lesley Griffiths, November 2013

1 Beyond Boundaries: Citizen Centred Local Services for Wales. Review of Local Service Delivery: Report to the Welsh Assembly Government, Welsh Government, Crown 
Copyright, 2006.

2 CSSIW Chief Inspector’s Annual Report 2010-2011, Crown Copyright, 2012.
3 Estyn Annual Report 2009-2010.
4 Local Government (Wales) Measure – Explanatory Memorandum incorporating the Regulatory Impact Assessment and Delegated Powers Memorandum, Welsh Assembly 

Government, July 2010.
Pack Page 16



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 5

5 The study enabled councils to evaluate their 
own performance, share knowledge, develop 
skills, build and strengthen relationships, and 
identify new opportunities for working together 
with other councils and partners. To support 
shared learning, we developed Peer Learning and 
Evaluation Teams at each council, comprising 
scrutiny members and officers. These teams were 
involved in observing and evaluating scrutiny at 
another council. Results of these peer evaluations 
are set out in Appendix 1. 

6 The study helped to shape the proposed Key 
Characteristics of Effective Overview and Scrutiny 
that the Welsh Local Government Association 
and partners had initially crafted from existing 
good practice guidance. Since the completion 
of the study an agreed set of ‘outcomes and 
characteristics for effective local government 
overview and scrutiny’ has been developed by 
the Wales Scrutiny Officers Network, supported 
by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS)5. These 
characteristics are listed in Appendix 2.

7 On 28 November 2013 a national conference, 
Scrutiny in the Spotlight: Investing to maximise 
its impact, was organised and hosted jointly by 
Cardiff Business School, the CfPS, the Wales 
Audit Office, Welsh Government, and the Welsh 
Local Government Association. Part of the 
conference programme was developed to explore 
some common themes that emerged from the 
Wales Audit Office study and to seek ways of 
addressing the challenges ahead.

8 The national conference generated a lot of 
activity on social media, particularly via ‘Twitter’. 
Participants and those engaged virtually, made 
useful contributions and observations that we 
have reproduced at various points throughout the 
report.

9 This report aims to highlight the challenges 
discussed at the conference and is based on: 
councils’ self-evaluations; peer evaluations 
carried out by member and officer teams from 
other councils; and observations and existing 
accumulated knowledge of staff of the Wales 
Audit Office on councils’ scrutiny functions and 
governance arrangements. It sets out what the 
Auditor General sees as the main challenges 
to more effective scrutiny and draws on various 
contributions to the national scrutiny conference 
in outlining potential solutions.

10 Overall we conclude that: local government 
scrutiny in Wales is improving but councils need 
to do more to develop consistently rigorous 
scrutiny to increase public accountability in 
decision-making. Councils demonstrated a 
genuine commitment to learning and improvement 
throughout the course of the study, and in many 
councils scrutiny practice at committees has 
improved. However many challenges remain. In 
summary we found that:

 a scrutiny practice is improving, but the impact 
that scrutiny is having is not always clearly 
evident;

 b whilst a majority of councils consider that 
there is a supportive environment for 
scrutiny; some lack of clarity of roles and 
responsibilities can limit the effectiveness with 
which scrutiny holds the executive to account;

 c better planning, more effective chairing, and 
improvements to the range, quality and use of 
information are required to improve scrutiny 
across councils in Wales;

 d in general, council scrutiny is not always 
fully aligned with other council improvement 

5 The Centre for Public Scrutiny is an independent charity, focused on ideas, thinking and the application and development of policy and practice for accountable public 
services.

Pack Page 17



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!6

processes, nor builds on external audit, 
inspection and review; and

 e more effective engagement with the public 
and partners will improve scrutiny and 
increase public accountability.

11 Subsequent to the study and national scrutiny 
conference, the ‘Commission on Public Service 
Governance and Delivery6, established by the 
First Minister of Wales, published its findings 
in January 2014. The Commission’s report 
identified scrutiny as an important lever to secure 
improvement, but highlighted that it needed 
development as, amongst other factors, the 
fundamental importance of scrutiny in driving 
improvement was not recognised. Amongst the 
Commission’s recommendations were that:

 a The importance, status and value of scrutiny 
must be recognised, prioritised, continually 
sustained and reinforced.

 b Organisations must regard scrutiny as an 
investment to deliver improvements and future 
savings. They must resource and support 
scrutiny accordingly.

12 Throughout this report we will refer to extracts 
and recommendations of the Commission’s report 
where relevant.

6 Commission on Public Service Governance and Delivery – January 2014.

Pack Page 18

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/improvingservices/public-service-governance-and-delivery/report/?lang=en


Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 7

Recommendations

Recommendation Responsible partners

R1  Clarify the role of executive members and senior officers in contributing to 
scrutiny.  

Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association

R2 Ensure that scrutiny members, and specifically scrutiny chairs, receive 
training and support to fully equip them with the skills required to 
undertake effective scrutiny.

Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association

R3 Further develop scrutiny forward work programming to:
• provide a clear rationale for topic selection;
• be more outcome focussed;
• ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 

the outcome desired; and
• align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance 

management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Councils

R4 Ensure that scrutiny draws effectively on the work of audit, inspection 
and regulation and that its activities are complementary with the work of 
external review bodies.

Councils, Staff of the Wales Audit 
Office, CSSIW, Estyn

R5 Ensure that external review bodies take account of scrutiny work 
programmes and the outputs of scrutiny activity, where appropriate, in 
planning and delivering their work.

Staff of the Wales Audit Office, 
CSSIW, Estyn

R6 Ensure that the impact of scrutiny is properly evaluated and acted upon to 
improve the function’s effectiveness; including following up on proposed 
actions and examining outcomes.

Councils, Welsh Government, Welsh 
Local Government Association

R7 Undertake regular self-evaluation of scrutiny utilising the ‘outcomes 
and characteristics of effective local government overview and scrutiny’ 
developed by the Wales Scrutiny Officers’ Network.

Councils

R8 Implement scrutiny improvement action plans developed from the Wales 
Audit Office improvement study.

Councils

R9 Adopt Participation Cymru’s 10 Principles for Public Engagement in 
improving the way scrutiny engages with the public and stakeholders.

Councils

The responsible partners named above should co-operate in ascertaining how they will respectively and collectively 
address these recommendations and how others may be involved; for example the Wales Scrutiny Officers Network 
and the Welsh Government Scrutiny Reference Panel.

Pack Page 19



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!8

13 The detailed report that follows explores the 
challenges set out in our conclusions in more 
detail, and points to potential solutions using 
ideas explored at the national conference as a 
springboard to improvement.

Scrutiny practice is improving, but the 
impact that scrutiny is having is not 
always clearly evident
14 This part of the report examines the extent 

of scrutiny activity taking place in councils 
across Wales and whether councils are able to 
demonstrate the contributions that the activity is 
making and the impact that it is having.

15 During the autumn of 2012 and spring of 2013 
all councils in Wales took an active part in our 
scrutiny improvement study, and engaged well 
with peer councils during peer evaluations and 
learning workshops. Peer Learning and Exchange 
Teams, consisting of both councillors and 
officers, were established at each council. The 
Peer Learning and Exchange Teams provided 
an external perspective to a peer council by 
evaluating its scrutiny function against criteria 
developed jointly by the Wales Audit Office, the 
Welsh Local Government Association, Welsh 
Government and the Wales Scrutiny Officers 

Network. The Peer Learning and Exchange 
Teams also took part in regional learning 
workshops.

16 Staff of the Wales Audit Office who acted as  
co-ordinators throughout the study reported 
back that councils demonstrated a genuine 
commitment to learning and improvement 
throughout the course of the study, and many 
have continued to work with their peers to share 
information to improve practice. In many councils, 
Wales Audit Office staff have witnessed improved 
scrutiny practice at committees that they have 
attended since their involvement in the study.

17 In our national summary report Local 
Improvement Planning and Reporting in Wales, 
September 2013, we noted that many councils 
were providing scrutiny committees with a better 
range of relevant and up-to-date information 
than had previously been the case. This trend in 
relation to the range and timeliness of information 
being provided to scrutiny is encouraging, 
although the report also noted that there is scope 
for further improvement to ensure that information 
is consistently relevant, up-to-date and timely. 
Later in this report we will return to issues relating 
to the range and quality of information used by 
scrutiny committees to undertake their work.

18 Improvements to scrutiny practice need to be 
judged against the outcomes that result from its 
activities. Demonstrating the impact of scrutiny 
is important, not least in view of the considerable 
investment of time and resources in scrutiny 
functions across Wales, as well as the benefits 
that effective scrutiny can bring to governance, 
accountability and improvement. The Minister for 
Local Government and Government Business 
highlighted the importance of effective scrutiny 
in her keynote address to the national scrutiny 
conference, saying that: ‘Scrutiny is at the 
heart and soul of effective governance and 
accountability. It is integral to demonstrating 

Detailed Report

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘As part of raising the status and profile of scrutiny, and 
engaging citizens, there must be increased visibility of the 
outputs and outcomes from local government scrutiny.’ – 
recommendation 31.

Pack Page 20



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 9

local authorities are open and transparent.’ She 
supported the collective investment of time and 
resource in scrutiny activity, but stressed that it 
needs to add value and that scrutiny is ‘a classic 
‘invest-to-save’ service for the public sector’.

19 Value, of course, must be seen in the context of 
the amount of time and money dedicated to the 
exercise of scrutiny, and the corresponding quality 
of outcomes generated. The Local Government 
Act 2000, which created separate Executive and 
Overview and Scrutiny functions within councils, 
requires that councils operating executive 

arrangements create a minimum of one Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee which is composed 
of councillors who are not on the Executive 
Committee, or Cabinet, of that council. There 
is no national standard or prescription on the 
committee structure that councils adopt to satisfy 
these legislative requirements. A wide variety of 
designations and structures are in use, ranging 
from single committees to multiple committees 
with task and finish groups. The scale of local 
government scrutiny activity across Wales is 
significant as demonstrated in the table below.

Wales total Lowest/highest 
per council

Average per 
council

Number of overview and scrutiny 
committees

92 1 - 6 4.2

Number of overview and scrutiny 
committee positions

1221 16 - 92 55.5

Number of overview and scrutiny 
members

842 14 - 58 38.3

Overview and scrutiny committees at the start of the 2013-14 civic7 year

Wales total Lowest/highest 
per council

Average per 
council

Number of overview and scrutiny 
meetings

827 8 - 63 37.6

Number of task and finish groups 107 0 - 18 4.9

Number of task and finish group 
meetings

573 3 - 200 26.0

Number of executive decisions ‘called in’ 27 0 - 6 1.2

Scrutiny activity during the 2012-13 civic year

7 The period between Annual Full Council meetings.

Pack Page 21



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!10

20 The amount of senior salary payable to an 
overview and scrutiny committee chair for  
2013-14 is £21,910 (inclusive of a basic salary 
of £13,175 payable to all members of principal 
councils). Therefore, assuming that a senior 
salary is paid for the entire civic year 2013-14 for 
the chair of each of the 92 committees that were 
in existence at the start of the 2013-14 civic year, 
this would amount to approximately an additional 
£803,000. 

21 In addition to the resources directly related to 
members’ involvement in scrutiny, councils also 
expend resources on aspects of scrutiny support, 
including officer time and administrative support 
for meetings. The Welsh Government has also 
committed to spending £360,000 between 
2012-13 and 2014-15 on supporting the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny to deliver a bespoke work 
programme in support of scrutiny in Wales. In 
addition, the Welsh Government has committed 
£300,000 over the same period in support of the 
third phase of the Scrutiny Development Fund 
in Wales. Also the Welsh Government, under 
the European Social Fund Local Service Board 
Development and Priority Delivery Project, 
funds the cost of an inward secondment to 
provide practical advice on the delivery of its 
programme of support for scrutiny, with a focus 
on Local Service Board scrutiny and developing 
collaborative scrutiny arrangements. Finally, the 
Welsh Government provides an improvement 
grant to the Welsh Local Government Association 
(£1.7 million in 2013-14), some of which is 
earmarked to support officers and members in 
delivering an effective scrutiny function.

22 Despite all this investment, and subsequent 
improvements in the quality of scrutiny practice, 
the impact of scrutiny activity is not always 
evident and is rarely captured. Of the 20 councils 
who responded to a study question on impact in 
their self-evaluations, a majority felt that scrutiny 
had a positive or significant impact. However, 
eight out of the 20 councils felt this was only 
partly the case. Peer evaluation teams were less 
positive about councils being able to demonstrate 
the impact of scrutiny. This resonates with the 
CfPS’ Annual Survey of councils in England and 
Wales 2012-13, whereby in response to the 
question: ‘How much difference do you think 
scrutiny makes to people’s lives?’ only three of 
18 responses from Wales answered ‘a lot’, 10 ‘a 
little’, four ‘very little’ and one ‘none’8.  

23 We observed some committees failing to arrive at 
clear conclusions and recommendations, along 
with a lack of ‘summing up’, or insufficient time 
being devoted to debating possible conclusions 
and recommendations. Some of the areas for 
improvement identified in councils’ final self-
evaluations included: the need for scrutiny 
committees to undertake better project planning 
and scoping of scrutiny activity with outcomes in 
mind; and the need for scrutiny committees to 
identify clear recommendations or outcomes from 
their work.

8 The options were 1. None. 2. Very little. 3. A little. 4. A lot. 

Pack Page 22



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 11

24 There are some practical measures that councils 
can put in place to encourage scrutiny committees 
to have a clearer focus on outcomes. These could 
include: 

 a clearly identifying anticipated outcomes at the 
topic selection stage;

 b considering what method of scrutiny activity is 
likely to have the most impact;

 c ensuring that reports submitted to scrutiny 
committees clearly outline the intended role 
for the scrutiny committee; and 

 d setting out the options available to the 
committee in drawing its conclusions. 

25 The Centre for Public Scrutiny has developed 
practical advice and guidance to assist councils in 
focussing on outcomes and measuring the impact 
of scrutiny.

CfPS – ‘Return on Investment’ approach
Drawing on the concept of ‘return on investment (ROI), CfPS has developed models which can assist the development 
of work programmes that better demonstrate the value and impact of scrutiny activity. A more structured approach to 
choosing topics and appropriate methodologies can help ensure that the limited resources available to scrutiny are used 
to maximum benefit.
Action learning from practical application of ROI tools has shown scrutiny to have greater positive impact when 
outcomes are carefully considered at every stage of the process. Crucially this includes estimating and evaluating the 
measurable impact of scrutiny recommendations at the outset as a key part of developing the ‘business case’ for scrutiny. 
Furthermore, practitioners who have applied ROI methodologies in their area also found that identifying process and 
outcome measures builds a better understanding of local communities by triangulating local stories with data and national 
patterns and giving marginalised groups a voice in reviews.
The CfPS publication ‘Tipping the Scales’ (2011) provides practical advice and guidance on ROI approaches as based 
on the experiences of five Scrutiny Development Areas. ‘Valuing Inclusion’ (2012) provides a refinement on ROI and 
focusses on engagement as an essential component of the model enabling scrutiny members and officers to meet directly 
with members of local communities and listen to their experiences and expertise.
CfPS is currently in year three of its scrutiny support programme for local authorities in Wales aimed at strengthening 
capacity and capability for effective public service scrutiny in the context of public sector reform and continued financial 
austerity.

Links - www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7137&offset=25
www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7303&offset=0

An example of a positive outcome from scrutiny was given 
by Dave McKenna, Scrutiny Manager at City and County 
of Swansea Council, at the national scrutiny conference. 
The work done by Swansea’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Child and Family Services Board led to a peer mentoring 
scheme being set up for young care leavers by people 
that had previously been care leavers. This scheme 
resulted in a positive outcome those being mentored 
but also for the mentors who received an accredited 
qualification. Dave wanted to illustrate that scrutiny is a 
process with a number of stages and if you get all of those 
stages right then that can lead to a really good outcome. A 
video clip of Dave explaining this example can be viewed 
using the following link.
Dave McKenna

Dave McKenna link - http://vimeo.com/94525623

Pack Page 23

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7137&offset=25
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7303&offset=0
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7137&offset=25
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7303&offset=0
http://vimeo.com/94525623
http://vimeo.com/94525623


Good Scrutiny? Good Question!12

26 It is also important that scrutiny members make 
clear the reasons why they have requested 
information and reports. Similarly, if officers 
suggest items to be considered by a scrutiny 
committee, they should ensure that there is a 
clear rationale for doing so. A more challenging 
task will be the development of more robust 
measures capable of demonstrating the impact 
of scrutiny. The agreement of a set of core 
characteristics and outcomes represents a good 
starting point for achieving this. 

27 Robust self-evaluation of scrutiny functions 
could also help to ensure that scrutiny 
focuses sufficiently on outcomes. A number 
of councils referred to undertaking some form 
of self-evaluation of their scrutiny functions. 
Approaches to this included: the production of a 
scrutiny annual report; a chairs ‘away day’; and 
committees undertaking an evaluation of their 
own performance after every meeting. Councils 
have welcomed the facilitation of self-evaluation 
through the Auditor General’s study and recognise 
that this is an area that should be developed 
further and embedded within their work.

Key Characteristics of Effective Overview and 
Scrutiny
The Wales Scrutiny Officers Network, supported by the 
CfPS has developed a set of key characteristics that 
councils can subscribe to aimed at achieving ‘better 
outcomes’, ‘better decisions’ and ‘better engagement’. 
Staff of the Wales Audit Office have been engaged 
at various times throughout the development of the 
outcomes and characteristics and view them as a very 
helpful description of effective scrutiny. These can be 
found in Appendix 2.

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘Organisations must adopt a ‘best practice’ approach to 
scrutiny, not a ‘least required’. The scrutiny outcomes 
and characteristics being prepared by the CfPS must 
be developed in discussion with other public sector 
organisations. Once agreed, they must be adopted by 
each organisation within 6 months.’ - recommendation 32.

Pack Page 24



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 13

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘All elected members, independent health board members, 
non-executive directors, and officers must acknowledge 
the importance and value of scrutiny in improving services 
for people and organisations in Wales. The independence 
of scrutiny must be strongly asserted and protected, as 
must its essentially constructive and positive nature.’
‘Executive members, non-executive directors, and officers, 
must similarly acknowledge the value of scrutiny in helping 
them to deliver services better. They must publicise and 
explain their decisions clearly, and invite scrutiny of them, 
including pre-decision scrutiny, willingly and openly. They 
must also acknowledge and respond to scrutiny reports 
promptly and in good faith.’ – recommendation 31.

Whilst a majority of councils consider 
that there is a supportive environment 
for scrutiny, some lack of clarity of 
roles and responsibilities can limit the 
effectiveness with which scrutiny holds 
the executive to account
28 This part of the report examines the culture within 

which scrutiny operates, the value afforded to 
it, and the quality of the support, structures and 
processes in councils. It is based on a mixture 
of self-evaluations by councils themselves, 
observations of peer learning teams, and audit 
observations and accumulated knowledge.

29 Council self-evaluations were relatively 
positive about how well the role of scrutiny was 
understood, valued and supported. Several 
councils reported a number of contributions that 
scrutiny has made to policy and decision making 
and the positive way in which scrutiny is regarded. 
A majority of councils believe the relationship 
between overview and scrutiny committees, 
the executive and senior officers is supporting 
effective scrutiny. Some of the positive aspects 
noted included:

 a the development of pre-decision scrutiny; 

 b cabinet members and senior officers making 
direct referrals of issues and decisions to 
scrutiny committees; 

 c cabinet members and senior officers taking 
part in work planning sessions for scrutiny 
committees; and

 d the existence of protocols/role descriptions 
setting out how scrutiny committees, cabinet 
members and senior officers should work 
together. 

30 However, some councils and peer observers felt 
that the relationship between scrutiny committees 
and cabinet members could be improved. Also, 
through committee observations we found that the 
relationship between the executive and scrutiny 
is not always clear. In some councils, cabinet 
members were invited to attend some scrutiny 
committee meetings to answer questions or 
provide perspectives on key issues, and a clear 
demarcation of roles taken at these meetings 
was evident. In other councils, cabinet members 
were not present at scrutiny committee meetings, 
or where they were in attendance, they did not 
participate in meetings and seemed to have no 
clear role to play. 

Pack Page 25



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!14

31 There may be confusion about the role of 
scrutiny committees in holding the executive 
to account in councils where those roles and 
responsibilities have not been adequately set out. 
Scrutiny committees are unlikely to effectively 
hold the executive to account if cabinet members 
are rarely invited to attend scrutiny committee 
meetings to answer questions or provide 
evidence. Councils should ensure there is clarity 
about the role of the cabinet member at scrutiny 
committee meetings to ensure that accountability 
is clear and that constructive challenge is 
facilitated without undermining the independence 
of scrutiny. Scrutiny committees should also 
ensure that they are clear on the reasons why 
they wish cabinet members to attend meetings 
before inviting them to attend.

32 Where there is a lack of clarity of role and 
function, it is likely that there is no full appreciation 
of the value of scrutiny in the democratic process 
and in holding the executive to account.

33 Councils’ self-evaluations showed mixed views 
regarding the support received from the officers 
across the Council, with just under half of councils 
believing that this was only partly supporting 
effective scrutiny. A few councils also recognised 
the need to increase understanding of the role 
of scrutiny amongst officers, and some areas for 
improvement identified in the self-evaluations 
related to officers’ attendance at meetings. 
Through observations of scrutiny committees 
we found that the role of senior officers in 
scrutiny appears to be unclear in some councils. 
Some councils had clearly set out the roles and 
responsibilities of officers, with officers being 
asked to attend committee meetings to answer 
questions and present reports or evidence. 
There were also a number of observations from 
peer teams that found officers attending for the 
duration of committee meetings without any 
apparent reason. A concern also identified is 
the extent to which the expertise of officers is 
consistently drawn upon by scrutiny committees.

34 In view of these observations, it is important 
that councils reflect on the role of senior officers 
in the scrutiny process to ensure that officers’ 
time is used most effectively. The expertise 
and knowledge of officers should be drawn 
upon sufficiently by committees in carrying out 
their scrutiny role, whilst ensuring that scrutiny 
processes remain led by scrutiny committee 
members. We found that councils where officers 
were invited to attend for specific items as 
‘witnesses’ to answer questions, rather than 
attending whole meetings almost as an ex-officio 
member of the committee, helped to encourage 
more effective and targeted questioning and to 
reinforce the distinct roles of scrutiny committee 
members, senior officers and executive members. 
Dedicated scrutiny support officers have a key 
role to play in helping scrutiny committees to plan 
for officer contributions and to liaise with those 
officers to ensure that the committees maximise 
the resources available to them.

‘Holding to account – implications and 
consequences’

A keynote speaker at the national scrutiny conference was 
Peter Watkin Jones, solicitor to the Mid Staffordshire NHS 
Foundation Trust public inquiry. Peter gave a captivating 
address on the importance of a strong accountability 
culture and the need for non-executives and scrutiny 
members to check and challenge assurances given to 
them in order to properly hold to account.
A link to conference outputs and Peter’s thoughts can be 
found here.

Link - http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/
scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/

Pack Page 26

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/10/scrutiny-beyond-boundaries/


Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 15

Clarifying respective roles in overview and scrutiny

Clearly setting out the roles of scrutiny chairs, scrutiny 
committees, cabinet members and officers in the process 
of overview and scrutiny means that there should be no 
ambiguity, no overlap and that appropriate and timely 
contributions can be made. Making an ‘Overview and 
Scrutiny Guide’ available on council websites is an 
effective way of councils communicating clearly defined 
roles to the public. Currently nine Welsh councils have 
publicly accessible guides available through their 
websites, whilst a further five have broken or out-dated 
web links. Guides produced by Cardiff Council, Torfaen 
County Borough Council, and the Vale of Glamorgan 
County Borough Council set out respective scrutiny 
roles well. Examples outside of Wales, such as that 
developed by the London Borough of Merton (scrutiny_
handbook_2011-3.pdf) and Leicestershire County Council 
(overviewandscrutinyguide.pdf), are also worthy of 
consideration.

Links - www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny_
handbook_oct_2011-3.pdf
www.leics.gov.uk/overviewandscrutinyguide.pdf

35 The number of officers directly supporting scrutiny 
varies between councils, and some officers 
also have additional roles in addition to scrutiny 
support. Some comments in councils’ final self-
evaluations recognised that resources were 
limited.  Only one comment specifically referred 
to a recent reduction in the level of resources 
for scrutiny support whilst a few councils implied 
that teams had recently been, or were about 
to be, strengthened. Some councils identified 
several ways in which officers could provide more 
effective support, including assisting with the 
development of lines of enquiry and improving 
the quality of information and research provided 
to scrutiny committees. Evidence from CfPS 
annual surveys shows a clear linkage between 
the level of dedicated scrutiny support and 
the effectiveness with which scrutiny is able 
to perform its role. The Commission on Public 

Service Governance and Delivery recognised that 
the capacity and capability of scrutiny to drive 
improvement must be strengthened, and that 
scrutiny must be well resourced with sufficient 
support at officer level.

36 Ensuring that individuals involved in the scrutiny 
process have the right skills and competencies is 
a key element of preparing for effective scrutiny. 
This is not limited to those involved in supporting 
and providing information to scrutiny committees, 
but also applies to scrutineers. Many councils 
consider that access to training for scrutiny 
members that was focused on need positively 
supports effective scrutiny and referred to a range 
of training having been provided. Whilst local 
audit teams observed evidence of some strong 
scrutiny skills such as in chairing and questioning 
skills, there were also examples where these 
skills were less evident and needed to be 
improved. In their final self-evaluations some 
councils identified training as key to improving 
scrutiny, and a number of councils recognised 
the need to develop more tailored training based 

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘Local authorities must make appropriate support 
available, at officer level, to develop co-ordinated scrutiny 
plans, identify gaps in expertise on the committees and 
provide proportionate and understandable information to 
committee members.’
‘Mandatory training must be provided to all members 
and chairs of local government scrutiny committees.’ – 
recommendation 32.

Pack Page 27

http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny_handbook_oct_2011-3.pdf
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny_handbook_oct_2011-3.pdf
http://www.leics.gov.uk/overviewandscrutinyguide.pdf
www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny_handbook_oct_2011-3.pdf
www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny_handbook_oct_2011-3.pdf
http://www.leics.gov.uk/overviewandscrutinyguide.pdf


Good Scrutiny? Good Question!16

on the needs of individuals. Some of the lack of 
clarity highlighted earlier in relation to the role of 
the scrutiny function within councils governance 
arrangements, and the respective roles of senior 
officers and cabinet members also suggests a 
need for further training and development in some 
councils. 

37 During the study it was recognised by peer 
learning and evaluation teams that, to support 
the development of effective scrutiny, councils 
need to ensure that training and development are 
based on identifying individual training needs. 
These training needs include the development of 
scrutiny skills such as questioning, analysing and 
chairing, as well as supporting scrutiny members 
to develop their knowledge of the subject/
service areas they are scrutinising. It was also 
recognised that development activity is not limited 
to ‘training’, and that this could be broadened out 
to focus on wider learning and development. For 
example, some potential areas of development 
could benefit from ‘on-the-job’ member/officer 
interaction and collaboration rather than formal 
‘skills’ training. These could include, for example, 
working together on scoping a review or 
observing directorate team meetings relating to 
performance reviews.

38 The Welsh Government Scrutiny Development 
Fund is currently supporting a project to identify 
the training and skills needs of Scrutiny Officers 
and then to deliver bespoke accredited training 
solutions. Training is being developed and 
delivered by the University of South Wales. The 
programme commenced in October 2013 and 
completes in June 2014. It covers three modules: 

 a Political Awareness; 

 b Scrutiny and Review/Understanding and 
Challenging public Service performance; 

 c and Governance and Scrutiny.

Better planning, more effective chairing 
and improvements to the range, quality 
and use of information are required 
to improve scrutiny across councils in 
Wales
39 This part of the report considers the quality 

of scrutiny committees’ activities. In particular 
it considers forward work programming and 
identifying topics for scrutiny and the important 
role of pre-meetings and the chair in effective 
scrutiny. 

Selecting appropriate topics and the right method 
is vital to effective scrutiny 

40 The selection of appropriate topics for scrutiny, 
led by scrutiny members with support from 
officers and informed by clear selection criteria, is 
a key element of preparing for effective scrutiny. 
Selecting the right approach to scrutiny activity 
is equally important, for example determining 
whether or not topics should be examined through 
a task and finish group or by a full committee. 

Pack Page 28



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 17

41 Nearly all councils felt their work planning 
processes were effective, with many councils 
stating that members’ choice of topics was 
appropriate. However, councils were less positive 
regarding the extent to which work programmes 
were balanced and focused appropriately, or were 
developed following consultation with the public 
and partners and in discussion with senior officers 
and executive members. 

42 Councils should ensure that the contents of 
forward work programmes are based on sound 
criteria with a clear rationale for topic selection 
and that sufficient consideration is given to the 
method of scrutiny, rather than just the selection 
of topics. A key criterion for the selection of 
topics and the method of scrutiny should be the 
extent to which scrutiny committees are likely to 
have an impact in the area they have selected. 
A variety of sources of information can help to 
inform the selection of scrutiny work programmes. 
Information sources include: the views of senior 
officers, cabinet members and citizens; major 
policy changes; performance issues; risks; and 
inspectors’ and regulators’ concerns. Another key 
consideration for scrutiny committees should be 
the time available, including members’ time, to 
undertake the scrutiny activity. Items should be 
programmed in a timely manner, for example, to 
encourage pre-decision scrutiny where this would 
add value. To help ensure that scrutiny has an 
impact, scrutiny committees may have to balance 
a desire to examine a large number of topics with 
the likelihood of securing greater impact through 
focusing on a small number of items in more 
detail.

43 Councils identified some common shortcomings 
related to forward work programming. These 
included: 

 a the extent to which work programmes were 
focused on outcomes; 

 b that work planning processes were too ‘officer 
driven’; 

 c that some committee meeting agendas 
contained too many items; 

 d the extent to which the public were engaged 
in the selection of topics; and 

 e aligning with cabinet forward work 
programmes so that scrutiny could contribute 
to improving proposed or existing policies. 

44 Task and finish groups, or their equivalent, often 
involving a smaller group of scrutiny members 
tasked with examining a particular topic in detail, 
are used in many councils to conduct in-depth 
reviews. A key theme for improvement identified 
in several council self-evaluations is the need to 
strengthen the evidence base for these reviews, 
including greater use of data, benchmarking 
information or broadening evidence bases to 
gather wider perspectives. 

45 Effective topic selection and planning at the 
project selection stage can help to identify 
the evidence required and how it can be 
gathered, including a consideration of available 
information sources and the most appropriate 
way of gathering a range of perspectives. Due 
to potential resource implications it is important 
that careful consideration is given to the selection 
of topics and the approach taken to in-depth 
reviews, including timeliness and likely impact.

Pack Page 29



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!18

The information provided to scrutiny committees is 
not always sufficiently robust, clear or timely

46 The range, timeliness, presentation and relevance 
of information available to committees all have an 
impact on the effectiveness of scrutiny. Councils 
were mixed in their views on the extent to which 
information received by scrutiny committees 
supported improvement.

47 Councils identified a number of ways in which 
information to support scrutiny could be 
strengthened. These included a need for less 
irrelevant detail in reports, a broader range of 
information to give a more rounded picture, as 
well as better quality and more timely information. 
The need to strengthen scoping and/or forward 
work programming to ensure that the correct 
information was requested by scrutiny committees 
was also identified by some councils.

48 So that the information needs of scrutiny 
committees are clear, and that the information 
provided is relevant, timely and in an appropriate 
format, councils need to ensure that clear 
communication channels are in place between 
scrutiny committees and those responsible for 
providing information to them. This could include 
senior managers, scrutiny officers, cabinet 
members and any external witnesses or partners 
that the committee has requested information 

from. Scrutiny members have an important role 
in shaping the content and format of information 
that is presented to them and, where appropriate, 
in challenging the way in which information is 
presented if it does not enable them to perform 
their role effectively. Scrutiny members also 
need to ensure that the information needs of 
committees and the availability of information are 
considered at topic selection and project planning 
stages. Members also need to be clear as to the 
purpose of requesting specific information and 
the outcome they are hoping to achieve as a 
consequence of examining it.

49 As well as being presented with appropriate 
information, reports to scrutiny committees 
need to be suitably analytical and to arrive at an 
evaluation. Often self-evaluation reports merely 
present data without identifying unsatisfactory 
performance or progress. Reports are often 
too descriptive and do not focus enough on 
evaluating the impact of services.

50 Councils should also have regard to the report by 
the Auditor General entitled Local Improvement 
Planning and Reporting in Wales9. The report 
identified ‘In a small number of authorities, 
information presented to scrutiny committees 
is not sufficiently consistent or impartial’ and 
that ‘councillors, who have a key role in driving 
improvement through effective scrutiny, are not 
being informed by comprehensive data and 
information’.

The CfPS has published a short guide, A Cunning Plan, 
that explains the basic principles behind good work 
programming and cites some examples of notable practice 
from English local authorities (acunningplan). 

Link - www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0

9 Local Improvement Planning and Reporting in Wales, Wales Audit Office, September 2013.

Pack Page 30

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0


Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 19

A good example of preparing for effective scrutiny was 
given by Alison Ward, Chief Executive of Torfaen County 
Borough Council, at the national scrutiny conference. 
Alison spoke about how she saw scrutiny as the most 
challenging bit of democracy but the most important. After 
the 2012 elections Torfaen CBC started working with 
Members to improve scrutiny. They commissioned the 
Welsh Local Government Association to do an appraisal 
of their scrutiny function, and as a result they have 
significantly changed the way they approach scrutiny. 
One major change that they have made is to run Annual 
visioning sessions using information from the public and 
staff to form a picture of what issues that they’d like to 
explore through the scrutiny process. This has resulted in 
stronger scrutiny sessions with improved questioning and 
improved recommendations being made. A video clip of 
this example can be viewed using the following link.
Alison Ward

Link - http://vimeo.com/94525623

The quality of advance preparation for scrutiny 
committees varies considerably between councils

51 Pre-meetings, whereby scrutiny committees  
meet in advance of formal committee meetings, 
can assist with the planning and preparation  
of scrutiny activity in a number of ways.  
Pre-meetings that take place well in advance 
of formal committee meetings can enable 
committees to discuss and determine: the 
information required; key lines of enquiry; 
the choice and order of witnesses; and the 
committee’s objectives for the items it is due 
to consider. Committees could also use a pre-
meeting to allocate provisional timings for items 
to enable witnesses to only attend for relevant 
item(s). 

52 Planning ahead in this way also enables 
‘witnesses’ to be briefed in advance on the subject 
matter the committee would like to discuss, and 
any information it would like to be contained in 
reports presented to it. These discussions do not 
have to take place as a separate meeting, but 
could form part of the discussions of the previous 
formal meeting of the committee. Pre-meetings 
that take place immediately prior to the formal 
committee meeting can provide an opportunity 
for members to discuss and agree the intended 
outcome to be gained from the meeting, key lines 
of enquiry for questioning and the approach to 
questioning the committee intends to take.  
Pre-meetings can also encourage committees to 
work as a team in jointly planning their activity.

53 Not all scrutiny committees hold pre-meetings 
and, of those that do, we found a variety of 
approaches. Approaches range from those that 
typically take place a number of days or weeks 
prior to a full committee meeting, to those which 
are held immediately prior to or at the beginning 
of the formal committee meeting prior to 
witnesses arriving. We have also observed some 
confusion about the role of pre-meetings. There 
were some concerns that the use of pre-meetings 
could undermine the formal committee meeting 
leading to ‘staged’ questions with little spontaneity 
or follow-up questions.

54 However, we are of the view that scrutiny 
committees could make more effective use of 
pre-meetings. This could be achieved through 
ensuring that pre-meetings have a clear and 
agreed purpose and that they follow an agreed 
format for preparing for the formal committee 
meeting without undermining it. Whichever 
method of planning is employed, it is important 
that committees have the opportunity to discuss 

Pack Page 31

http://vimeo.com/94525623
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0
http://vimeo.com/94525623


Good Scrutiny? Good Question!20

and plan their scrutiny activity to ensure that: the 
purpose of each item is clear; the information 
needs and required witnesses are agreed; and 
that the committee has an effective mechanism 
for developing lines of enquiry. These would not 
be considered formal meetings of committees as 
they would be for planning purposes only, and as 
such they would not be required to be open to the 
public.

There are some examples of good challenging 
questioning by scrutiny committees but in some 
cases questioning is ineffective

55 Successful scrutiny relies on effective questioning 
that: follows lines of enquiry; probes for further 
information; is prepared to challenge where 
necessary; and is clearly linked to the role of the 
committee. The quality of questioning is partly 
a result of the skills and knowledge of scrutiny 
committee members and the contributions of 
those answering questions. However, it also 
depends on effective preparation including 
selecting the right topics, planning scrutiny 
activity and ensuring that members and officers 
understand their role in the challenge process. 

56 Councils were generally positive about the extent 
to which scrutiny committees challenged through 
effective questioning skills. A number referred 
to having been provided with questioning skills 
training; with some noting that the standard 
of questioning was improving. A few councils 
recognised that questioning skills needed to 
improve further. From our own observations of 
scrutiny committee meetings, we found members’ 
questioning to be of variable quality. We noted 
some good examples of challenging and probing 
questions; however, there were also examples of 
ineffectual questioning, such as:

 a parochial and personal-agenda driven 
questioning;

 b committees not following any particular lines 
of enquiry;

 c a lack of cohesion to members’ questioning;

 d members making statements instead of 
questioning witnesses;

 e meetings appearing ‘over scripted’ with a lack 
of spontaneity in questioning; and

 f committees being insufficiently probing in their 
questioning.  

57 Our study highlighted the importance of the 
role of the chair in facilitating and leading 
scrutiny committees. We observed examples 
of effective chairing of meetings, where the 
chairs summarised discussions, ensured that 
questions and discussions remained focused 
and set an appropriate tone for meetings thereby 
allowing members and witnesses to contribute 
constructively. However, we also observed some 
instances where the chairs were less effective, 
for example, in allowing discussions to end 
without the agreement of any clear conclusion or 
recommendation. It is particularly important that 
councils ensure that scrutiny chairs receive the 
necessary level of training and support in order to 
develop the range of skills required to undertake 
the role effectively.

Pack Page 32



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 21

In general, council scrutiny is not 
always fully aligned with other council 
improvement processes, nor builds on 
external audit, inspection and review
58 This part of the report examines how scrutiny 

interacts with and utilises the work audit, 
inspection and review bodies to help inform and 
shape their work.

In general, scrutiny does not build on the learning 
highlighted in the work of external audit, inspection 
and review

59 There are opportunities for scrutiny committees to 
use the reports of external review bodies to inform 
its own work planning, and to provide evidence 
to inform the findings of scrutiny reviews. These 
external review bodies may also look to take 
assurance from the work undertaken by the 
Council’s scrutiny function. Statutory guidance 
for the Local Government (Wales) Measure 

2009 also states that: ‘If an authority’s scrutiny 
processes are sufficiently developed to discharge 
the above, and there is clear evidence that this 
is the case, then this scrutiny activity can be 
drawn upon by the Auditor General and relevant 
regulators in the course of their dealings with the 
authority.’

60 Our study found that the majority of councils 
believe that communication between scrutiny 
committees, and the council’s auditors, regulators 
and inspectors could be improved. Some of the 
councils’ self-evaluations referred to examples 
of external auditors, regulators or inspectors 
being invited to attend scrutiny committees, and 
a few councils also recognised the role of Audit 
Committees in liaising with auditors, regulators or 
inspectors. 

61 Councils also recognised that the sharing of work 
programmes between external review bodies and 
scrutiny functions could be improved. Only one 
council thought that this was an area of strength, 
whilst three thought that the lack of sharing was 
actually hindering improvement. Several councils 
referred to its scrutiny work programmes being 
available on council websites, but there was no 
evidence of councils actively sharing scrutiny 
work programmes with external review bodies.

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘Scrutiny, audit, inspection and regulation must become 
complementary, clearly aligned and mutually reinforcing - 
recommendation 4.
‘Auditors, inspectors and regulators who report on 
individual organisations must do so directly to the 
appropriate scrutiny or audit committee. Where 
appropriate, they should assist the committee in its 
consideration and holding the executive to account.’ – 
recommendation 34.

Pack Page 33



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!22

62 To build on the work of auditors, inspectors 
and regulators, councils and external review 
bodies should explore practical ways in which 
communication regarding future work plans 
and findings from their respective work could 
be improved. The Commission on Public 
Service Governance and Delivery cited that the 
way that the Wales Audit Office reports to the 
Assembly’s Public Accounts Committee (PAC) 
as strengthening the evidence base for the 
PAC’s inquiries and gives its own findings and 
recommendations greater impact. It also helps 
to ensure that the accountability of the Welsh 
Government to the Wales Audit Office and to 
the Assembly are better aligned and thus less 
burdensome and more effective. 

In general, scrutiny is not well aligned with wider 
council improvement processes

63 The role of scrutiny in the improvement agenda 
for local government is recognised in statutory 
guidance. The Guidance on Part 1 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009 states: 
‘There is a clear role for an authority’s scrutiny 
function in its improvement processes: as part 
of its role in holding local decision makers 
and policy makers to account, and in its policy 
development role.’ The guidance suggests that 
the role of scrutiny should extend to ‘scrutiny of 
the fitness of the organisation to discharge the 
general duty to improve’, as well as its role in 
policy development and scrutinising performance 
and improvement. Our experience is that scrutiny 
rarely examines capacity and fitness for purpose, 
and that scrutiny programmes would benefit from 
including such activity. In practice this may include 
scrutiny enquiries that examine capability and 
deliverability, rather than the apparent quality of 
policies and plans.

64 Two-thirds of councils believed that the extent 
to which scrutiny has had a clearly defined 
and valued role in the council’s self-evaluation, 
performance management and improvement 
arrangements, was either positively or 
significantly supporting improvement. However, 
for seven councils this was only partly the case.  
A few councils also identified a need to improve  
or clarify the role of scrutiny in corporate  
self-evaluation arrangements. Other areas for 
improvement that were identified included: 
training for elected members; the need to 
change the format of data presented to scrutiny 
committees; and the timing of when scrutiny 
committees received performance information. 
The need to improve the alignment of internal 
processes, including with executive work 
programmes, and improve internal communication 
was also identified as an area for improvement.

65 Only just over half of councils consider that 
scrutiny committees challenge poor performance 
effectively. We found that most council scrutiny 
committees have a role in performance 
management arrangements and that regular 
reporting of performance information occurs. 
However, where reporting does occur we found 
that the level of understanding of the data 
provided varies amongst scrutiny members, 
questioning of performance is not always 
effective, and there is limited connection between 
performance data provided to committees and the 
outcomes that it purports to relate to. This means 
that, in these cases, scrutiny committees are not 
equipped to effectively contribute to performance 
evaluation and management.

Pack Page 34



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 23

Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery
‘Local government scrutiny committees and other formal 
scrutiny bodies must engage more effectively with the 
public and partners. That should include the co-option of 
individuals from advocacy and other groups onto scrutiny 
committees to increase such committees’ capacity and 
capability to provide constructive and informed scrutiny.’ – 
recommendation 33.

10 Shared Purpose – Shared Delivery Guidance on integrating Partnerships and Plans – Welsh Government, Version 2, Crown Copyright, December 2012.

More effective engagement with the 
public and partners will improve scrutiny 
and increase public accountability
66 This part of the report examines the extent to 

which council scrutiny functions engage and 
involve partners, stakeholders, community groups 
and members of the public in their work.

67 Engaging the public can help to ensure that the 
selection of topics for scrutiny takes into account 
the views of local communities, improves the 
evidence base for scrutiny recommendations 
and demonstrates accountability for decisions, 
policies and performance. As community leaders, 
elected members are ideally placed to facilitate 
the engagement of the public and partners in 
scrutiny through their links to the community and 
local partners. The Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 requires scrutiny committees to 
take into account the views of the public. The role 
of scrutiny in holding local partners to account is 
also emphasised in statutory guidance covering 
the integration of plans and partnerships – 
‘local authorities should have in place effective 
scrutiny processes to ensure local democratic 
accountability for partnership actions’.10 

68 Most councils recognise that the extent to which 
scrutiny committees ensure that the voice of local 
people is heard as part of local decision-making is 
an area that needs to improve. During the study 
some councils referred to the need to develop a 
public engagement strategy for scrutiny, as well 
as the need to improve engagement of the public 
in the planning of scrutiny work. Broadening 
and improving engagement with partners was 
also recognised by councils as an area for 
development.

Pack Page 35



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!24

69 During the scrutiny study councils also provided 
examples in their self-evaluations of the way in 
which they have attempted to improve external 
engagement, which included the use of social 
media, co-option onto committees and making 
use of citizens’ panels. Several councils also 
referred to the opportunity for the public to 
complete a form requesting a topic for scrutiny. 
One council referred to a form being available for 
the public to provide comments on any topic being 
considered by a scrutiny committee. 

70 However, in observing scrutiny committees, 
we witnessed a number of practices that may 
deter the public and councils’ partners from 
engaging with scrutiny committee meetings. 
Such practices included poor acoustics, no spare 
copies of agendas being available, and the use of 
unsuitable meeting rooms that helped to create an 
overly formal environment or had limited seating 
for external observers.

71 There are clearly opportunities for scrutiny 
functions to broaden their engagement activity 
and for some to learn from a range of approaches 
that have already been implemented. Some 
councils are more proactive than others in their 
attempts to engage the public at each stage 
of scrutiny activity including: topic selection; 
planning and scoping; gathering evidence; and 
reporting findings. Effective engagement may 
require changing the venue, format, and layout 
of meetings and the content of work programmes 
to encourage more interest and engagement. 
Councils can also draw on the numerous 
approaches to engaging the public that have 
already been implemented across Wales and 
England. The recognition by many councils that 
engagement with partners is an area that could be 
improved suggests that scrutiny committees are 
often failing to make use of partners’ knowledge, 
expertise and perspectives to inform their work. 

72 The national scrutiny conference included 
sessions exploring ways that scrutiny could better 
engage with the public and partners. Details and 
links are contained in the boxes below.

National Assembly for Wales – Public Engagement 
Toolkit
This workshop examined the principle of participation 
in scrutiny and outlined the use of an engagement tool. 
The National Assembly as an organisation has prioritised 
broadening participation in scrutiny. To ‘engage with the 
people of Wales’ is a corporate priority.
A link to the Public Engagement Toolkit can be found here.

Link - www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf 

At the national scrutiny conference Councillor Peter 
Farley of Monmouthshire County Council spoke of the 
importance of public engagement in the work of scrutiny. 
He explored the way public engagement can be a means 
of enhancing the work of scrutiny and also the value of 
public involvement at scrutiny committees.
He gave three examples of how this has been 
approached in Monmouthshire and how involving 
stakeholders, individuals, communities and interest 
groups has significantly improved the scrutiny function in 
Monmouthshire. A video clip of Councillor Farley can be 
viewed using the following link. 
Councillor Peter Farley

Link - http://vimeo.com/94525623

Pack Page 36

http://www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf
http://www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf
http://www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf
http://vimeo.com/94525623
http://vimeo.com/94525623
http://vimeo.com/94525623


Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 25

The Role of the Networked Councillor in Scrutiny

Catherine Howe of Public-i Group Ltd outlined why 
scrutiny is a perfect place to start developing the 
relationship between the networked councillor and the 
public.
For more information visit www.public-i.info

73 Engaging the public in council business is 
difficult and requires careful consideration of 
who to engage, on what, and for what purpose.  
Once this is established the method and style of 
engagement is important to be able to maximise 
potential contributions and the impact that they 
can have. There are no simple answers, and what 
worked for one council on a particular issue may 
not necessarily work for another. Often, however, 
the shift towards more effective engagement is a 
cultural one needed across the whole of a council, 
rather than just for the scrutiny function.

74 Councils may wish to consider using the 10 
‘National Principles for Public Engagement’ 
developed by Participation Cymru in considering 
how best to engage and involve the public. 
Their guidance note on the National Principles 
provides a useful way of working through some 
of these issues (www.participationcymru.org.uk/
media/288784/national_principles_for_public_
engagement_aug1_.pdf).

75 In summary, the need to engage more effectively 
with the public and stakeholders is acknowledged 
as an on-going challenge for scrutiny functions, 
as it is for councils generally. However with more 
proactive planning of scrutiny activity, some 
dedicated effort and resources, and the support 
of organisations such as Participation Cymru 
and CfPS the voice of local people can play an 
important part in scrutiny and in local decision-
making.

Pack Page 37

www.public-i.info
http://www.participationcymru.org.uk/media/288784/national_principles_for_public_engagement_aug1_.pdf
http://www.participationcymru.org.uk/media/288784/national_principles_for_public_engagement_aug1_.pdf
http://www.participationcymru.org.uk/media/288784/national_principles_for_public_engagement_aug1_.pdf


Good Scrutiny? Good Question!26

Appendices

Appendix 1 -  Self-evaluations and peer team 
evaluations

Appendix 2 - Outcomes and characteristics 
for effective local government 
overview and scrutiny

Pack Page 38



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 27

Appendix 1 
Self-evaluations and peer team evaluations

Auditor General for Wales Improvement Study – Scrutiny in Local Government

This improvement study differed from the traditional audit approach by involving real time shared working 
activity, self-evaluation and peer learning exchange opportunities. These peer learning exchanges 
meant councils undertaking their own self evaluations of scrutiny arrangements with partner councils 
and observing and sharing views on each other’s’ scrutiny committees. This process enabled councils to 
build relationships with other councils, developing a better understanding, awareness and appreciation 
of themselves and others, as well as identifying opportunities for joint working and joint scrutiny in the 
future.

At the end of the study each council had an up to date baseline of its own and other councils’ scrutiny 
arrangements. This baseline was informed by real time observations, regional workshops, feedback from 
partner councils, a final self-evaluation relevant to each council and a local report from the Wales Audit 
Office. This enabled the councils to present their final self-evaluation to their own members and decide 
on an action plan for improvement.

 
Self-evaluations and peer team evaluations

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (21)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q1. Is there a clear and shared understanding and application of the role and purpose  
of Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) amongst executive and non-executive members,  
senior officers, scrutiny officers and key local partners?

Pack Page 39



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!28

Q2. Does O&S enjoy a high status and is it held in high esteem, trusted and respected both within 
and outside the Authority?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q3. Is there a well-defined and constructive relationship between O&S, the executive and senior 
officers?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Pack Page 40



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 29

Q4. Does O&S have a clearly defined and valued role in the council’s  
self-evaluation, performance management and improvement arrangements?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q5. Is there regular and effective two-way communication between O&S and external/internal 
auditors, regulators and inspectors?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (15)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Pack Page 41



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!30

Q6. Does O&S have clear governance arrangements that are understood and applied effectively?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (19)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q7. Are O&S chairs and executive members actively promoting the role and value of the scrutiny 
function to a variety of internal and external stakeholders?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (19)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Pack Page 42



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 31

Q8. Do O&S members have access to development and training opportunities focused on need, 
as part of the council’s wider commitment to member support and development?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (21)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (19)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q9. Does O&S have a sufficient level of dedicated support from officers who are able to research 
independently and are able to provide O&S members with high-quality, objective analysis and 
support?

Pack Page 43



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!32

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (17)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q11. Does the O&S process receive effective support from the council’s wider officer corp as and 
when required?

Q10. Is the role of officers directly supporting scrutiny activity well-understood and valued within 
the organisation?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Pack Page 44



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 33

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (21)

Follow up self evaluation (21)

Q12. Is information provided to O&S relevant, robust, balanced, meaningful, responsive to 
requests, of high quality and provided in a timely and consistent manner?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q13. Section One, Scrutiny Environment: Does the environment that O&S operate in support 
improvement?

Pack Page 45



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!34

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q14. Does O&S provide evidence-based, constructive challenge; operate objectively, apolitically 
and with independence from executive decision-makers?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q15. Do O&S members identify appropriate topics for challenge or policy review/development 
and develop outcome-focused forward work programmes?

Pack Page 46



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 35

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (18)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q16. Do O&S members constructively yet robustly challenge policy and decision-makers and implementers 
(including partners etc) through effective questioning, listening and analysis, and develop a good understanding 
and knowledge of the subject under scrutiny?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (22)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q17. Are O&S inquiries/reviews in-depth, rigorous and draw upon independent and objective 
perspectives from a wide range of sources (including making use of benchmarking information) 
within and outside the council?

Pack Page 47



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!36

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q18. Does O&S regularly engage with members, officers, the public and other external 
stakeholders in planning and conducting its work?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (19)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q19. Does O&S have a balanced and focused work programme that is developed by O&S 
members, following consultation with the public and partners and discussions with executive 
members and senior officers?

Pack Page 48



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 37

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (16)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q20. Do O&S members plan their work considering the appropriateness of a range of scrutiny 
methods/methodologies, use of clear terms of reference and realistic project plans?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (18)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q21. Are scrutiny forward work programmes routinely shared with auditors, inspectors and 
regulators to influence planning of improvement activity?

Pack Page 49



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!38

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (21)

Q22. Does O&S play a key role in the council’s self-evaluation and assessment arrangements 
and regularly evaluate itself to ensure that it continues to learn and improve how it adds value and 
impact?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (17)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q23. Section Two, Scrutiny Practice: Is O&S practice effective?

Pack Page 50



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 39

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q24. Does O&S regularly contribute to the improvement of proposed/existing policies for the benefit 
of the area and its local communities?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (21)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q25. Does O&S identify instances where agreed policies are not being implemented effectively 
and recommend appropriate remedial action to whomever is responsible within or outside the 
Council?

Pack Page 51



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!40

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (16)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q26. Does O&S challenge poor performance and its causes and alert senior officers, the executive, 
full council or partners to instigate remedial action as appropriate whilst continuing to monitor 
progress to remedy this?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q27. When conducting in-depth inquiries/reviews into areas of poor performance, does O&S help 
shape responses to improve performance and the performance of other public sector providers?

Pack Page 52



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 41

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (19)

Follow up self evaluation (21)

Q28. Does O&S ensure that the ‘voice’ of local people and communities across the area is heard as 
part of local decision and policy-making processes?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (20)

Follow up self evaluation (22)

Q29. Does O&S enhance democratic accountability through regular, robust, constructive and public 
challenge of local decision-makers/deliverers of services in the local area (including other public service 
providers/providers of ‘shared?

Pack Page 53



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!42

Q30. Section Three, Impact of Scrutiny: Does the O&S activity have impact?

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

Hindering e�ective
scrutiny

Partly supporting
e�ective scrutiny

Positively 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

Signi�cantly 
supporting

e�ective scrutiny

First self evaluation (22)

PLET evaluation (21)

Follow up self evaluation (20)

Pack Page 54



Good Scrutiny? Good Question! 43

Appendix 2 
Outcomes and characteristics for effective local 
government overview and scrutiny 

Wales Scrutiny Officers Network

Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview and scrutiny

Outcome 
What does good scrutiny 
seek to achieve?

Characteristics
What would it look like? How could we recognise it?

1 Democratic accountability 
drives improvement in 
public services.  
 
‘Better Outcomes’

Environment 
i) Overview and scrutiny has a clearly defined and valued role in the council’s 

improvement and governance arrangements. 
ii) Overview and scrutiny has the dedicated officer support it needs from officers who 

are able to undertake independent research effectively, and provides councillors with 
high-quality analysis, advice and training. 

Practice 
iii) Overview and scrutiny inquiries are non-political, methodologically sound and 

incorporate a wide range of evidence and perspectives.  

Impact 
iv) Overview and scrutiny regularly engages in evidence based challenge of decision 

makers and service providers. 
v) Overview and scrutiny provides viable and well evidenced solutions to recognised 

problems.

2 Democratic decision making 
is accountable, inclusive 
and robust.  
 
‘Better decisions’

Environment 
i) Overview and scrutiny councillors have the training and development opportunities 

they need to undertake their role effectively. 
ii) The process receives effective support from the council’s corporate management 

team who ensures that information provided to overview & scrutiny is of high quality 
and is provided in a timely and consistent manner. 

Practice 
iii) Overview and scrutiny is councillor-led, takes into account the views of the public, 

partners and regulators, and balances the prioritisation of community concerns 
against issues of strategic risk and importance. 

iv) Overview and scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, chaired effectively 
and make best use of the resources available to it. 

Impact 
v) Decision makers give public account for themselves at overview and scrutiny 

committees for their portfolio responsibilities. 

Pack Page 55



Good Scrutiny? Good Question!44

Outcome 
What does good scrutiny 
seek to achieve?

Characteristics
What would it look like? How could we recognise it?

3 The public is engaged in 
democratic debate about 
the current and future 
delivery of public services.  
 
‘Better engagement’

Environment 
i) Overview and scrutiny is recognised by the executive and corporate management 

team as an important council mechanism for community engagement, and facilitates 
greater citizen involvement in governance.  

Practice 
ii) Overview and scrutiny is characterised by effective communication to raise 

awareness of, and encourage participation in democratic accountability.  
iii) Overview and scrutiny operates non-politically and deals effectively with sensitive 

political issues, tension and conflict. 
iv) Overview and scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a wide variety of 

internal and external stakeholders. 

Impact 
v) Overview and scrutiny enables the ‘voice’ of local people and communities across 

the area to be heard as part of decision and policy-making processes. 

Pack Page 56



Scrutiny Resources 1

Scrutiny in the spotlight
Resources 
 
June 2014

Pack Page 60



Scrutiny Resources2

About this resource

Scrutiny has a pivotal role in promoting improvement, efficiency and collaboration across 
public services and in holding those responsible for delivering services to account. The role 
of scrutiny is increasingly important at this time when public services are responding to the 
challenge of financial constraints, while continuously seeking to improve in response to rising 
public expectations. Developing effective joint scrutiny arrangements for new, and emerging, 
collaborations is also a growing priority. 

Resources produced before, during and in response to the ‘Scrutiny in the spotlight – investing 
to maximise its impact’ Conference in November 2013 are gathered together in this document. 
The resources, including presentations, speeches, video clips, blogs, tool kits and delegate 
Tweets, reflect the importance being placed on the role of public service scrutiny in Wales during 
these challenging times. 

Pack Page 61



Scrutiny Resources 3

Contents

  Strategic Overview      4

  Accountability through listening - Lessons learnt  
  from the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust  
  Public Inquiry       14   

  Examples of how scrutiny has made an impact  16  

  Role of the Networked Councillor in Scrutiny  19

  Public Engagement in Scrutiny    22

  Evidencing the Impact: Getting a return on  
  investment in Scrutiny     27

  Taking the Fear out of Budget Scrutiny   29

  Use of Information/Evidence-based Scrutiny  30

  Doing Collaborative Scrutiny: Reflections  
  from Practice       32

  Other useful resources     37

This resource is in support of Good Scrutiny? Good Question!, the Auditor General for Wales 
improvement study report on Scrutiny in Local Government..  

Importantly the report itself includes many resources, including Outcomes and characteristics  
for effective local government overview and scrutiny, which was developed by the Wales  
Scrutiny Officers Network, supported by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS). The  
characteristics are located in appendix 2 of the report.

Pack Page 62



Scrutiny Resources4

Strategic Overview

What is this section about? 
The aim of this section is to provide you with an overview of the importance placed on effective 
scrutiny in Wales; the challenges facing the role of scrutiny, and the need to drive greater 
consistency.  

Who is sharing this information?  
The Auditor General for Wales, Minister for Local Government and Government Business, Welsh 
Government and the Executive Director of Centre for Public Scrutiny. Also included, are video 
clips from Scrutiny Members who took part in an Auditor General National Study on Scrutiny 
sharing their key learning points.

The final set of video clips from Chief Officers, Scrutiny Members and Scrutiny Officers in this 
section highlights the impact scrutiny has had on public services. 

How is this information shared? 
These themes are included in speech transcripts, blogs written before and after the Scrutiny 
conference, video clips which provide a summary of key messages and delegate tweets in 
response to the videos and speeches. 

Pack Page 63



Scrutiny Resources 5

Huw Vaughan Thomas,  
Auditor General for Wales

Good morning. The Minister has set out an 
interesting context for the discussions we will be 
having today. No one should be in any doubt of 
the important she and I place on effective public 
service scrutiny in Wales. As is reflected in the 
numbers here today. 

However, I would challenge the sometimes 
overly narrow view of scrutiny. The term is often 
used, within local government, as shorthand - 
sometimes, for the role of one or more scrutiny 
committees, sometimes for the system of 
member scrutiny within an authority. It is right and 
proper that policy and high-level decision making 
is rigorously scrutinised through these means.  
But, scrutiny covers far more than the formal 
democratic processes, and it is the broader role 
of scrutiny I wish to cover this morning.

The role of independent review and the function 
of the National Assembly for Wales and its 
public accounts committee should not be under 
estimated in this broader system. Nor should 
the function of audit committees and scrutiny 
committees across Wales’ public bodies, be 
overlooked, nor the work of audit, inspection 
and regulatory bodies. But, proper monitoring 
of resources, outcomes and value for money; 
professional scepticism and the reviews of 
standards in public life is everyone’s business.  
 
I would argue that everyone involved in the 
planning and delivering of public services holds 
some responsibility for scrutiny. This is the broad 
definition, that I am using in talking with you 
today.

I wonder if anyone can remember this quote from 
September last year: “It’s an absolute disgrace 
that they even thought of it let alone spent public 
money when everyone else is having to cut back 
due to the cold wind of recession.”? 

Full speech by the Auditor General.

‘‘

’’

Pack Page 64

http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Scrutiny_resources_huw_speech.pdf


6 Scrutiny Resources

As mentioned in the Auditor General for Wales’ speech, this video shares the 
experiences of councillors from across Wales as they took part in the Good Scrutiny? 
Good Question! study. Councillor Linda Matthews, Councillor Elizabeth Evans, 
Councillor Tom Turner and Councillor Arwel Roberts give their views of the approach 
their top tips for scrutiny, and discuss what they learnt.

Huw Vaughan Thomas, the Auditor General for Wales, discusses the key points from 
his speech and gives his key message from the Scrutiny in the spotlight: Investing to 
maximise its impact conference, including emphasising the continued development 
of scrutiny, the role of scrutiny in collaboration, and investment in scrutiny.

Video of councillors experiences

Video of Huw Vaughan Thomas

Pack Page 65

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/80809254
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82206813
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/80809254
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82206813


Scrutiny Resources 7

Twitter feed on Auditor General’s Opening Speech

WLGA tweet
Good Practice Wales tweet

Alan Morris tweet WLGA tweet

WLGA tweet
Alan Morris tweet

Pack Page 66

https://twitter.com/WelshLGA/statuses/406015523617771520
https://twitter.com/GPWales/statuses/406016665085030400
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406017327248179200
https://twitter.com/WelshLGA/statuses/406017468445229056
https://twitter.com/WelshLGA/statuses/406019240421257216
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406019244867219456


8 Scrutiny Resources

Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister  
for Local Government and  
Government Business 

I am extremely pleased to be here today  
because I believe strongly in the benefits of 
effective scrutiny. 

I can tell by the number of people here I am not 
the only one who feels this way and I am very 
encouraged so many fellow elected members 
and colleagues are keen to learn from best 
practice and seek out new and innovative 
approaches to scrutiny.

Strong democracy is the connecting thread 
running through everything from improving 
services to ensuring the best use of public  
money and good governance.

Scrutiny is the heart and soul of effective 
governance and accountability. It is integral to 
demonstrating local authorities are open and 
transparent.  

Governance, scrutiny and delivery is one of the 
themes of the Commission on Public Service 
Governance and Delivery, so regardless of 
the findings of the report, strong and effective 
governance and therefore scrutiny will be at the 
heart of any proposals. 

Scrutiny has always had this role, but in light of 
the unprecedented financial challenges we all 
face, this contribution is ever more important. It 
is right we collectively invest time and resource 
in scrutiny as an activity which adds value. You 
might call scrutiny a classic ‘invest to save’ 
service for the public sector.

The title of this conference, ‘Scrutiny in the 
spotlight: Investing to Maximise its Impact’ is 
therefore absolutely timely and pertinent as we 
all aim to do the best for the people of Wales in 
these challenging financial times.   

Full speech by the Minister.

‘‘ ’’

Pack Page 67

http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Scrutiny_resources_Lesley.pdf


Scrutiny Resources 9

In his blog, Richard Shearer outlined the context of the Scrutiny in the Spotlight 
event from a Welsh Government perspective. Richard discusses the importance 
of collaboration, the role of the Scrutiny Development Fund and how the Local 
Government Act 2000 is the foundation for scrutiny in Wales:

Is the Spotlight on Scrutiny conference really the first time 
Scrutiny has taken centre stage? It certainly signals a change in 
the air. Some would say the aspirations of the Local Government 
Act 2000 are, after the hard work undertaken to develop scrutiny, 
ready to take centre-stage; ready to lead improvement in our 
public services on behalf of the citizen.

There are already many collaborations we can acknowledge 
are challenging our perceptions of scrutiny; Regional Education 
Consortia, projects funded by the Regional Collaboration Funds, 
and the continued development of Local Service Boards and 
Single Integrated Planning.  

The stage is big enough to increase the cast significantly, and build on and develop the existing 
practices. This means Scrutiny has to be more responsive, ensure appropriate challenge, and 
deliver effective accountability. This is the new backdrop to public service in Wales, and scrutiny 
is well placed to deliver.

Full blog post by Richard. 

Collaboration

Pack Page 68

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/13/collaboration/


Scrutiny Resources10

Key message from Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister for Local Government  
and Government Business

Minister for Local Government Lesley Griffiths AM discusses key messages from the Scrutiny in the 
spotlight: Investing to maximise its impact conference, the role of scrutiny in debates around investment  
in public services, and also the importance of equality impact assessments in scrutiny.

 
Delegate Tweets

Video of Lesley Griffiths AM

Lesley Griffiths tweet Catherine Howe tweet

Participation Cymru tweet

Pack Page 69

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82202812
https://twitter.com/WG_LocalGovMin/statuses/406008936178130944
https://twitter.com/curiousc/statuses/406012685999169536
https://twitter.com/PartCymru/statuses/406015356437024768
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82202812


Scrutiny Resources 11Scrutiny Resources

Jessica Crowe, Executive Director, Centre for Public Scrutiny

Jessica Crowe from the Centre for Public Scrutiny discusses the key points from the Scrutiny in the 
spotlight: Investing to maximise its impact conference, including the importance of consistency and 
individual cultures and approaches.

Video of Jessica Crowe

Pack Page 70

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82273686
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82273686


12 Scrutiny Resources

Jessica Crowe is Executive Director of the Centre for Public Scrutiny, an independent 
charity founded in 2003 to promote better scrutiny and accountability in decision-
making across the public sector. The blog describes the event as “a watershed 
moment in building a new consensus that poor or average standards of scrutiny 
should no longer be tolerated in Wales.” Jessica also looks at the next steps for 
scrutiny in Wales, which includes the ‘Characteristics of Effective Scrutiny’ for 
regulators and politicians.

On 28 November, I heard a local government minister 
say things like:
“scrutiny is the heart and soul of good governance”
“scrutiny puts the government into local government”
“everyone from the leadership to the front line 
understands the role and value of scrutiny… these are 
the necessary conditions for scrutiny to add value”
“scrutiny is the classic invest to save service”

For readers in England, no I hadn’t been spirited away 
over the rainbow to a mythical land of Oz. The minister 
concerned was Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister for Local 

Government and Government Business in Wales, giving the key note address at a 250-strong 
conference on scrutiny in Cardiff. As some of you will know, CfPS started delivering a major 
new programme in Wales earlier this year on behalf of the Welsh government, and we were 
supporting this conference as part of the programme, along with partners, the Wales Audit 
Office, Welsh Government, Welsh LGA and Cardiff Business School.

Full blog post by Jessica. 

We’re not in Kansas anymore ……

Pack Page 71

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/12/09/were-not-in-kansas-anymore/


Scrutiny Resources 13Scrutiny Resources

Delegate Tweet

WLGA tweet

Pack Page 72

https://twitter.com/WelshLGA/statuses/406008875406868480


Scrutiny Resources14

Presentation
Peter Watkin Jones’ presentation on lessons learnt.

Peter Watkin Jones, Partner, Eversheds

Peter Watkin Jones discusses how the Francis Inquiry is relevant to Welsh public services,  
including the importance of openness, transparency and candour.

Scrutiny beyond boundaries

You can also view a video summary of Peter’s key points.

Video of Peter Watkin Jones

Accountability through listening -  
Lessons learnt from the  
Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation  
Trust Public Inquiry

Pack Page 73

http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Peter%20Watkins%20Jones%20plenary%20presentation.pdf
 https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82275037
https://vimeo.com/83839544
https://vimeo.com/83839544


Scrutiny Resources 15

Twitter feed
 

Elizabeth Evans tweet Alan Morris tweet

Good Practice WAO tweet

Pack Page 74

https://twitter.com/CllrEvans/statuses/406080079903875072
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406080958614753280
https://twitter.com/GoodPracticeWAO/statuses/406083859827408896


16 Scrutiny Resources

Councillor Peter Farley discusses the key points from the discussion session, including the importance of 
public engagement through scrutiny, both as a means to improving scrutiny work, and the value of public 
involvement in the work of scrutiny committees.

Helen Paterson from Wrexham County Borough Council discusses the key points from the discussion 
session, including how the economy committee involved market traders in its scrutiny.

Examples of how scrutiny has 
made an impact

Video of Dr Helen Paterson

Dr Helen Paterson, Chief Executive, Wrexham County Borough Council

Video of Councillor Peter Farley

Cllr Peter Farley, Scrutiny Chair, Monmouthshire County Council

Pack Page 75

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82204690
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82204690
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82205549
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82205549


Scrutiny Resources 17

Alison Ward of Torfaen County Borough Council discusses how the council have improved their  
scrutiny, moving away from adversarial politics into looking intelligently and in-depth to the  
council’s work.

Dave McKenna from City and County of Swansea discusses how the involvement of young care leavers 
in some of their scrutiny work led to improved scrutiny and  additional benefits for the young people 
involved.

Video of Alison Ward

Alison Ward, Chief Executive, Torfaen County Borough Council

Video of Dave McKenna

Dave McKenna, Scrutiny Manager, City and Council of Swansea

Pack Page 76

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/94666715
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/94666715
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82206060
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/82206060


Scrutiny Resources18

Dave McKenna, Scrutiny Manager for the City and County of Swansea, looked at the 
current state of play of local government scrutiny. His blog looked at the changing 
world of scrutiny, including its role in innovation, regulation and engagement, as well 
as the role of scuriny itself.

All grown up and trying to make its way; it feels like local 
government scrutiny is at a crossroads. The world that 
scrutiny was born into was very different and scrutiny 
needs to adapt to the challenging circumstances it finds 
itself in today. But how should it change? I want to point 
to three new roles as possible ways to go; these are the 
innovation, regulation and engagement roles.

Growing Up in a Changing World

The build up to what promises to be a very significant 
first major scrutiny conference in Wales is a good 

moment to think about what scrutiny could look like in future. I like the ‘all grown up’ theme, 
after all, local government scrutiny, born out of the Local Government Act 2000 is now 
a teenager. But let’s not forget that teenagers are not quite grown up yet; perhaps more 
independent and responsible in some ways, but not quite fully trusted in others.

Scrutiny has come a long way in 13 years and there are many excellent examples of scrutiny 
making a difference. However, even if scrutiny has fully matured as a function (and I am not sure 
that it has) then the fact that today’s world is so different from the one that scrutiny was born 
into should in any case be a cause for reflection.

Full blog post by Dave. 

Presentation
Dave McKenna’s presentation on the impact of scrutiny.

Innovation, regulation and engagement: three new roles for scrutiny?

Pack Page 77

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/
http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Session%202%20Part%203%20-%20Dave%20McKenna.pdf


Scrutiny Resources 19

What is this section about? 
The aim of this section is for you to gain an appreciation that social media is not just another 
communication channel. Scrutiny is a perfect place to start to develop a relationship between 
the networked councillor and the public.

Who is sharing this information?  
Catherine Howe, CEO Public-I

How is this information shared? 
This information is shared through a PowerPoint presentation, a blog written after the 
conference capturing the overview of both workshops; a video clip providing  a summary of the 
key message from the presentation and delegate tweets related in relation to the workshop.

Catherine Howe from Public-i discusses how society is changing based on developments  
in technology, and what that means for the public service community.

Video by Catherine Howe

Role of the Networked  
Councillor in Scrutiny

Presentation
Catherine Howe’s presentation on the role of the networked Councillor. 

Catherine Howe, Chief Executive Officer, Public-i 

Pack Page 78

http://vimeo.com/81090803
http://vimeo.com/81090803
http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Workshop%201%20-%20Catherine%20Howe%20Public%20I.pdf


20 Scrutiny Resources

Catherine Howe of Public-I blogged about her experiences of the scrutiny conference. 
Catherine looked at the need for “networked, open, co-productive and digitally native 
representatives”, and asks how we might design a democratic society for a networked 
society?

Towards the end of last year I ran a couple of networked Councillor sessions at a brilliantly well 
organised Scrutiny conference in Wales. One of the things that keeps impressing me when I visit 
Wales is the very real commitment to learning and exploring best practice that you find within 
both national and local government and one of the ways in which this conference manifested 
this was in asking each of the facilitators to contribute a follow up blog post. Here, rather 
belatedly is mine.

I suppose the first thing to note is the, to my mind at least, incredibly strong link between the 
thinking behind Networked Councillor and opportunities which the scrutiny function offers to 
really explore ways of doing things differently. This is additionally true in Wales where the Local 
Government Act (Wales) of 2011 has further opened up access to the scrutiny function within 
local government. As a result there is a lot of work being done in Wales to explore ways in which 
we can better involve the public in the process of accountability.

What I appreciated about the conference - and which has stayed with me - was the emphasis 
on the need to create a culture of accountability. One of the most powerful sessions for me was 
on the Mid-Staffs review and the fact that the failings there were as much down to organisational 
behaviours as they were down to process or data.

Full blog post by Catherine. 

Role of the Networked Councillor in Scrutiny

Pack Page 79

www.wao.gov.uk/events/scrutiny-spotlight-seminar
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/03/14/the-networked-councillor/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/


Scrutiny Resources 21

Delegate tweets

Dave McKenna tweet Dave McKenna tweet

Alan Morris tweet

Alan Morris tweet

Dave McKenna tweet

Pack Page 80

https://twitter.com/Localopolis/statuses/406033818282655744
https://twitter.com/Localopolis/statuses/406035384586731521
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406067922210390016
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406070004812365824
https://twitter.com/Localopolis/statuses/406092970199613441


22 Scrutiny Resources

What is this section about? 
The Welsh Assembly Government has developed a Public Engagement Tool kit which can be 
adapted to suit the needs of Local Government Members.

Who is sharing this information?  
Virginia Hawkins and Kevin Davies, National Assembly for Wales

How is this information shared? 
Latest version of tool kit; blogs written before and after the Scrutiny conference; video clips 
which provide a summary of key message(s) and delegate tweets in response to the workshop 
and blogs.  

Public Engagement in Scrutiny

Public Engagement in Scrutiny

This blog is about how the National Assembly for Wales encourages greater 
participation in committee scrutiny. These approaches could be adapted to suit the 
approaches of local government and other public services in Wales. The blog looks at 
ensuring we work in ways that suit participants and how the workshop will encourage 
the sharing of good practice.

On Thursday the 28th of November the National Assembly for Wales are going to be taking part 
in the Scrutiny in the Spotlight Conference at the Swalec Stadium in Cardiff. Two workshops will 
be held to discuss the issue of ‘participation in scrutiny’ which will be delivered by Kevin Davies, 
a member of the Assembly’s Communications department with the remit of encouraging greater 
participation in committee scrutiny, and Virginia Hawkins who has worked at the Assembly for 
10 years, and during that time has been involved in all aspects of scrutiny, from a Clerking, 
Research and Communications perspective.

Pack Page 81



Scrutiny Resources 23

The National Assembly has over the past two years changed its approach to Communicating 
to focus much more on the work that the Assembly is doing at the time, and talking to specific 
groups of people who are likely to have an interest in the subject matter, acting as a conduit 
to get more people involved in scrutiny. In doing so we utilise an in-house online toolkit, which 
outlines the ways in which we can engage with people outside of the traditional methods of 
contributing to scrutiny at the Assembly, namely writing in or being invited to give evidence. 

Full blog post. 

Presentation
Virginia Hawkins’ presentation on public engagement.

Pack Page 82

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/30/scrutiny-at-the-national-assembly-for-wales/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/30/scrutiny-at-the-national-assembly-for-wales/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/
http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Workshop%202%20-%20NAFW.pdf


24 Scrutiny Resources

Virginia Hawkins, National Assembly for Wales

Virginia Hawkins from the National Assembly for Wales discusses their work on public engagement, 
including how a culture and a buy-in is needed for effective work, but that the benefits far outweigh  
the effort and resources that go into it.

Video by Virginia Hawkins 

Pack Page 83

https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81091428
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81091428


Scrutiny Resources 25

Kevin Davies reflects on the National Assembly for 
Wales’ workshop, which looked at the role of public 
engagement in scrutiny. The blog looks at what they  
did on the day, how they canvassed opinion for  
follow-up issues through Twitter, and their public 
engagement toolkit. 

It’s fair to say that both Virginia and I spent a lot of time 
discussing the way our workshop would run, and could quite 
easily have come up with enough stuff for an all day session, 
so drilling it down to an hour long workshop was quite 
challenging.

We decided that the focus of the workshops should be 
around the principle of participation in scrutiny, and to share 
some of our experiences with the audience. We also felt 

it was very important for people to get a chance to share ideas with each other during the 
workshop. We agreed that our workshops should be seen as a starting point, and that this blog 
would be a good way of filling in the gaps, so here goes…

Full blog post by Kevin. 

National Assembly for Wales – Public Engagement Toolkit

Pack Page 84

www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf%20
www.assemblywales.org/public_engagement_toolkit_2014.pdf%20
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/02/21/national-assembly-for-wales-public-engagement-toolkit/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/02/21/national-assembly-for-wales-public-engagement-toolkit/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/


Scrutiny Resources26

Twitter feed

Palmeriaid tweet

Stuart Hodges tweet

Steve Barry tweet

Pack Page 85

https://twitter.com/Palmeriaid/statuses/406071075185766400
https://twitter.com/stu_hodges/statuses/406034747513909248
https://twitter.com/SteveBarryWAO/statuses/406094148014731264


Scrutiny Resources 27

Evidencing the Impact: Getting a 
return on investment in Scrutiny
What is this section about? 
This section is about developing your understanding of a ‘Return on Investment’ model of 
scrutiny which has been developed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny; it also shares why it was 
developed and where it has been used and provided an example of its impact in tackling health 
inequalities. 

Who is sharing this information?  
Brenda Cook, Centre for Public Scrutiny

How is this information shared?  
This information is shared through a PowerPoint presentation, a video clip providing a summary 
of the key message from the presentation and delegate tweets related in relation to the work-
shop.

Presentation
Brenda Cook’s presentation on evidencing the impact.

Brenda Cook, Centre for Public Scrutiny

Brenda Cook from the Centre for Public Scrutiny discusses how the return of investment model 
developed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny can be used around health inequalities.

Video by Brenda Cook

Pack Page 86

https://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Workshop%203%20-%20CfPS.pdf
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81091981
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81091981


Scrutiny Resources28

Twitter feed

Tanwen Haf tweet Good Practice WAO tweet

Pack Page 87

https://twitter.com/Tanwen_Haf/statuses/406034561672695808
https://twitter.com/GoodPracticeWAO/statuses/406033761898610688


Scrutiny Resources 29

What is this section about?  
This section is about gaining a better understanding of the budget scrutiny process and 
providing you with confidence in questioning, building resilience in to questioning and seeking to 
understand budget proposals.

Who is sharing this information?  
John Dwight, Wales Audit Office and Chris Tidswell, CIPFA

How is this information shared? 
This information is shared through a PowerPoint presentation, a blog andvideo clip providing a 
summary of the key message from the presentation.

Presentation
John Dwight and Chris Tidswell’s presentation on budget scrutiny.

John Dwight, Wales Audit Office

John Dwight of the Wales Audit Office and Chris Tidswell of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) discuss the importance of building trust, and that members develop a good 
understanding of the information they need so that officers can better provide what is needed.

Video by John Dwight

Taking the Fear out  
of Budget Scrutiny

Pack Page 88

http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Workshop%204%20-%20WAO%20%26%20CIPFA.pdf
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81094741
https://vimeo.com/album/2636906/video/81094741


Scrutiny Resources30

What is this section about? 
You will gain knowledge in identifying the usefulness of data and information contained in reports 
and equip you to ask relevant questions

Who is sharing this information?  
Huw Rees Wales Audit Office and Simon Brown, Clive Phillips, Gerard Kerslake and Huw 
Davies, Estyn

How is the information shared? 
This information is shared through a PowerPoint presentation, a blog written after the 
conference capturing the workshop overview; a video clip providing a summary of the key 
message(s) from the presentation and delegate tweets related in relation to the workshop.

Huw Rees from the Wales Audit Office blogged on  identifying the usefulness of 
data and information contained in reports and equip them to ask relevant questions. 
Huw discussed how scrutiny is facing challenging times and how workshops at the 
conference will enable idea sharing.

Well over 200 delegates from the Scrutiny Community in Wales 
will be attending the ‘Scrutiny in the Spotlight’ Conference on 28 
November 2013 in Swalec Stadium, Cardiff.

The conference is a collaborative effort between Wales Audit 
Office, Centre for Public Scrutiny, WLGA, Welsh Government and 
Cardiff Business School. It makes complete sense for all partners 
involved in Scrutiny improvement work in Wales to join forces in 
putting on this highly anticipated event. We, and those delegates 
attending, all share a common purpose and so this is a unique 
opportunity for us to come together to benefit from our collective 
knowledge and experience and to engage in the sharing and 
learning of ideas and solutions to improve Scrutiny in Wales.

     Full blog post by Huw. 

Use of Information/ 
Evidence-based Scrutiny

Pack Page 89

http://www.wao.gov.uk/events/scrutiny-spotlight-seminar
http://www.wao.gov.uk/about-us
http://www.wao.gov.uk/about-us
http://www.cfps.org.uk/Wales
http://www.wlga.gov.uk/about-us
http://wales.gov.uk/about/?lang=en
http://business.cardiff.ac.uk/about
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/02/lights-camera-action/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/02/lights-camera-action/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/


Scrutiny Resources 31

Video by Simon Brown

Simon Brown, Estyn
 
Simon Brown from Estyn and Huw Rees from the Wales Audit Office discuss their workshop, which 
recreated a pre-meeting of scrutiny to give participants the opportunity to look at sample reports, 
challenge them and use them to ask the right questions.

Delegate tweets in response to workshop

Bethan Davies tweet
Bethan Davies tweet

Bethan Davies tweet

Pack Page 90

http://vimeo.com/81092470
https://twitter.com/BethDaviesWAO/statuses/406066184207876096
https://twitter.com/BethDaviesWAO/statuses/406068276003733504
https://twitter.com/BethDaviesWAO/statuses/406073461522440192
http://vimeo.com/81092470


Scrutiny Resources32

What is this section about?  
This section is about sharing the learning from a recent study on collaborative scrutiny. 

Who is sharing this information? 
James Downe and Rachel Ashworth, Cardiff Business School and representatives from  
Prosiect Gwyrdd.

How is this information shared? 
This information is shared through a PowerPoint presentation, a blog written after the 
conference capturing the workshop overview; a video clip providing  a summary of the key 
message(s) from the presentation and delegate tweets related in relation to the workshop.

This resource will share learning from a recent study on collaborative scrutiny and improve 
understanding of the benefits and challenges of joint working through a case study of  
Prosiect Gwyrdd.

Presentation
James Downe’s presentation on collaborative scrutiny.

James Downe, Cardiff Business School

James Downe from Cardiff Business School discuss the key points from their workshop,  
including financial resources and dedicated officer time.

Video by James Downe

Doing Collaborative Scrutiny:  
Reflections from Practice

Pack Page 91

http://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/download_documents/Workshop%206%20-%20Collaborative%20Scrutiny%20Cardiff%20Business%20School.pdf
http://vimeo.com/81093615
http://vimeo.com/81093615


Scrutiny Resources 33

We caught up with Hazel Ilett, Scrutiny Manager, Monmouthshire CC and Jonathan 
Jones, Scrutiny Manager Caerphilly CBC following the Spotlight on Scrutiny 
conference, and they shared their thoughts on Collaborative Scrutiny. They look at 
the challenges, the need to having somebody dedicated to doing the job, and the 
importance of trust  and developing relationships.

Collaborative scrutiny is complex… and collaborative scrutiny of a highly controversial subject 
matter – treatment of municipal waste – is even more complex…. little did we know just how 
complex joint scrutiny could become! We are now told our project is the most significant 
joint scrutiny project conducted in Wales (and probably England to date), so it’s high time we 
reflected and shared a few key lessons with those who have an appetite for joint scrutiny….. 
and of course, hindsight’s a wonderful thing!

The Welsh Government commissioned Cardiff Business School (Centre for Local and Regional 
Government Research) to deliver a major research brief on developing a culture of collaborative 
scrutiny in Local Government in Wales.

If you only take one message away from our workshop, it would be this – you can have the 
perfect formal arrangement and all the protocols in the world and yet joint scrutiny can still 
flounder at the first stair. Successful joint scrutiny requires a whole lot of personal effort to bring 
members together informally to develop a real sense of a ‘joint scrutiny identity’. Unless you 
can nail the ‘joint scrutiny culture’ and all overcome all the political challenges that will throw 
themselves in front of your path to success, collaborative scrutiny will be a ‘here today, gone 
tomorrow’ affair.

Full blog post by Hazel and Jonathan. 

Collaborative Scrutiny – Lessons learnt

Pack Page 92

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/research/culture-of-collaborative-scrutiny/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/research/culture-of-collaborative-scrutiny/?lang=en
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/21/collaborative-scrutiny-lessons-learnt/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/21/collaborative-scrutiny-lessons-learnt/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/21/collaborative-scrutiny-lessons-learnt/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/16/innovation-regulation-and-engagement-three-new-roles-for-scrutiny/


Scrutiny Resources34

Delegate tweets in response to workshop

Alan Morris tweet Good Practice WAO tweet

Elizabeth Evans tweet

Pack Page 93

https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406034561488142336
https://twitter.com/GoodPracticeWAO/statuses/406071367164248064
https://twitter.com/CllrEvans/statuses/406078712241995776


Scrutiny Resources 35

Rebecca David-Knight, Wales Scrutiny Programme Manager for the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny looks at the importance of active listening in scrutiny. Rebecca explains  
how the Samaritans workplace training team helped to Centre for Public Scrutiny  
to examine techniques such as clarification, summary, and careful use of  
open-questions.

“What are you really saying?” – Achieving effective overview and scrutiny through 
active listening

The ability to freely question decision 
makers is a powerful expression of 
democracy. In many ways the act 
of questioning those in authority 
can be said to define and represent 
overview and scrutiny’s challenge 
role, especially when played out in 
the public arena.

For many overview and scrutiny 
committees, however, the aim of 
questioning is not just challenge 
for its own sake but as a means to 

drive improvement in public services and ensure decision making is accountable, inclusive and 
robust.

Despite a heavy emphasis on the use of questions in scrutiny, I’m not always convinced that 
sufficient attention is placed on the process of answering. After all, it is a question of give and 
take and it’s important to strike the right balance. As Mark Twain said, “If we were supposed to 
talk more than we listen, we would have two tongues and one ear.”

Full blog post by Rebecca. 

What might the future hold?

Pack Page 94

http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/21/what-are-you-really-saying-achieving-effective-overview-and-scrutiny-through-active-listening/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/21/what-are-you-really-saying-achieving-effective-overview-and-scrutiny-through-active-listening/
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/21/what-are-you-really-saying-achieving-effective-overview-and-scrutiny-through-active-listening/


Scrutiny Resources36

Tim Gilling, Deputy Executive Director, Centre for Public Scrutiny

Tim Gilling from the Centre for Public Scrutiny discusses how good scrutiny will be vital in the years to 
come, as it will need to play a strong role in how decisions are made around public service investment.

Delegate tweets in response to workshop

Video by Tim Gilling

Dave McKenna tweet Alan Morris tweet

Pack Page 95

http://vimeo.com/82207517
https://twitter.com/Localopolis/statuses/406094352436695040
https://twitter.com/AlanMorrisWAO/statuses/406099171343892480
http://vimeo.com/82207517


Scrutiny Resources 37

Spotlight on Scrutiny Pintrest Board
www.pinterest.com/goodpracticewao/scrutiny-in-the-spotlight-investing-to-maximise-it/

Is Scrutiny About to Come of Age? 
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/09/13/is-scrutiny-about-to-come-of-age/

Social Scrutiny
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/09/17/social-scrutiny/

Lights, Camera, Action!
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/02/lights-camera-action/

Reaching Out, Drawing In
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/10/23/reaching-out-drawing-in/

Musings of a Twitter Toddler
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/05/musings-of-a-twitter-toddler/

All along the watchtower – #Scrutiny13
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/11/19/all-along-the-watchtower-
scrutiny13-2/

Celtic Scrutiny – lessons shared across the Irish Sea
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2013/12/16/celtic-scrutiny-lessons-shared-
across-the-irish-sea/

The Year Scrutiny became Social – Scrutiny Conference Social Media Campaign
http://goodpracticeexchange.wordpress.com/2014/01/09/the-year-scrutiny-became-social-
scrutiny-conference-social-media-campaign/

Scotland’s public sector workforce: Good practice guide
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/docs/central/2013/nr_131128_public_sector_workforce_guide.pdf

Good Scrutiny? Good Question!
www.wao.gov.uk/publication/good-scrutiny-good-question-auditor-general-wales-improvement-
study-scrutiny-local

Other useful resources

Pack Page 96



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 97

Agenda Item 5By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 101

Agenda Item 6By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Meeting the Financial Challenges Facing Local Government in Wales
	3 Scrutiny in Local Government
	PAC(4)-17-14(p2)

	5 Ways of Working: Assessment of ways of working
	6 Forward work programme: Autumn 2014



